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PRIOR RELATED APPEALS 

 There are no prior related appeals arising from Defendant’s 2021 federal life 

sentence for first degree murder. 

The remarkable procedural history of this case spans 22 years as set forth in 

Murphy v. Royal, 875 F.3d 896, 905-911 (10th Cir. 2017).  In 1999, the State of 

Oklahoma charged Defendant with capital murder.  He was convicted and sentenced 

to death. In addition to several appellate challenges in state court, Defendant filed 

four related appeals attempting to obtain federal habeas review of his state death 

sentence.  This Court dismissed appeal No. 04-7094 for lack of appellate 

jurisdiction.  (Order of Dec.16, 2004).  He filed appeal No. 07-7068, which this 

Court held in abeyance and later consolidated with appeal No. 15-7041.  (Orders of 

Nov. 16, 2007 and June 30, 2015).  In appeal No. 12-7055, this Court remanded to 

the district court to litigate Appellant’s procedural claims under Atkins v. Virginia, 

536 U.S. 304 (2002)(Order of Nov 2, 2012).  Finally, in appeal No. 15-7041, this 

Court determined Congress had never disestablished the Muscogee (Creek) Nation’s 

reservation in Oklahoma and ruled Oklahoma lacked jurisdiction over Defendant’s 

crime.  Murphy v. Royal, 875 F.3d 896, 921 (10th Cir. 2017).1  This Court stayed its 

 
1 Defendant was also among those 30 Oklahoma death row inmates who challenged 
the state’s execution protocol in the Western District of Oklahoma and whose appeal 
No. 21-6139 was dismissed by this Court in Jones v. Crow, 2021 WL 5277462 
(unpublished)(10th Cir. Nov. 12, 2021). 
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holding while the Supreme Court of the United States examined an identical issue 

in McGirt v. Oklahoma, 140 S.Ct. 2452 (2020).   

In McGirt, the Supreme Court held much of the State of Oklahoma rests 

within the United States’ Indian Country jurisdiction and affirmed this Court’s 

opinion in Murphy v. Royal.  Sharp v. Murphy, 140 S.Ct. 2412 (2020).   

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION 

 Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3231, the district court possessed subject matter 

jurisdiction over the charges because Defendant committed his offense in Indian 

Country and within the Eastern District of Oklahoma.  (ROA, Vol. I, at 87-88).2   

 Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1291, courts of appeals “shall have jurisdiction of 

appeals from all final decisions of the district courts of the United States.”  The 

district court sentenced Defendant on May 10, 2022, and entered its written 

judgment on May 11, 2022.  (ROA, Vol. I, at 385-386).  Defendant timely filed his 

Notice of Appeal on May 10, 2021.  (ROA, Vol. I, at 387).   

 
2 References to the record on appeal (“ROA”) will be made as follows: 
Volume I – Pleadings: by page numbers where the cited material appears in 

the consecutively paginated record, e.g., “ROA, Vol. I,  at 10.”  
Volume II – Sealed Pleadings: by page numbers where the cited material 

appears in the consecutively paginated record, e.g., “Vol. I, ROA at 10.”  
Volume III - Transcripts: References to the trial transcript, which appears in 

Volume III of the record on appeal will be to the transcript page,  e.g., “Tr. 2.” 
Supplemental Appendix (Trial Exhibits): by exhibit number, e.g., “Exh.2.”  
    
Defendant/Appellant’s brief will be referenced as “Def. Brf.” 
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STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

 1. Defendant, along with two others, intercepted the victim’s vehicle on a 

public roadway, forced the victim’s vehicle to stop, pulled the victim out of his 

vehicle, dragged the victim into a ditch, and killed the victim with a knife.  When 

viewing all the evidence and reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the 

government, did Defendant kidnap the victim?   

 2. There is no statute of limitations for murder in the first degree and 

kidnapping resulting in death.  The Defendant claims, however, that because he 

committed his crimes within the United States’ Indian Country jurisdiction, he is 

ineligible for the death penalty and thus should also be exempt from the unlimited 

statute of limitations.  Did the District Court abuse its discretion when it denied 

Defendant’s motion to dismiss on the statute of limitations?   

 3. Twenty years after the State of Oklahoma’s trial and conviction in this 

case, the Supreme Court of the United States held it occurred within the United 

States’ Indian Country jurisdiction, and the State of Oklahoma lacked jurisdiction.  

A federal grand jury returned an indictment two months thereafter.  Did the District 

Court abuse its discretion when it denied Defendant’s motion to dismiss on pre-trial 

delay?   
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COMBINED STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND THE FACTS 

Procedural Background  

On October 28, 2020, a federal grand jury sitting in the Eastern District of 

Oklahoma returned a four-count superseding indictment charging Defendant with: 

Count One, Murder in Indian Country in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1111(a), 2, 1151, 

and 1153, Count Two, Murder in Indian Country in Perpetration of Kidnapping in 

violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1111(a), 2, 1151, and 1153, Count Three, Kidnapping 

George Jacobs Resulting in the Death of George Jacobs in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 

1201(a)(2), 2, 1151, and 1153, and Count Four, Kidnapping Mark Sumka Resulting 

in the Death of George Jacobs in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1201(a)(2), 2, 1151, and 

1153.  (ROA, Vol. I, at 87-88).  On August 3-5, 2021, Defendant was tried before a 

jury and convicted on Counts One (of the lesser included charge of Murder in the 

Second Degree), Two, and Three.  (ROA, Vol. I, at 302-303, 305-306, 309, 385-

351).  A Presentence Report later concluded, based upon a total offense level of 43 

and a criminal history category of I, the applicable guideline imprisonment range 

was life imprisonment.  (ROA, Sealed Vol. II, PSR ¶ 59, at 60).  On May 10, 2022, 

the District Court sentenced Defendant to life on Counts One through Three and 

ordered the sentences run concurrently.  (ROA, Vol. I, at 386). 

Factual Background 

 The crimes in this case were motivated by jealousy: Defendant’s jealousy of 
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George Jacobs.3  Prior to the murder, George and Patsy Jacobs maintained a 

relationship for three years, and the couple had a child together.  (Tr. 41).  George 

and Patsy ultimately ended their relationship, and Patsy started a new relationship 

with Defendant.  Id.  At the time of the murder, Patsy and Defendant had been 

together for approximately five years.  (Tr. 45).   

A few nights prior to the murder, on Thursday, August 26, 1999, Defendant 

argued with Patsy.  Defendant wanted to know whether Patsy had gone to see her 

ex—George.  (Tr. 48).  During the argument, Defendant stated he will kill George 

and George’s children.  (Tr. 49).  As it would turn out, Defendant meant exactly 

what he said.   

For George, August 28, 1999, began as a typical Saturday.  George met up 

with his friend and former roommate, Mark Sumka.  (Tr. 187-189).  They drank and 

drove around for most of the day.  (Tr. 190-191).  Sumka and George later ended up 

at Mr. G’s, a restaurant and bar, where they ate and continued to drink.  (Tr. 191-

192).  From Mr. G’s, the pair decided to go to a different bar in another town.  (Id.).  

As they left Mr. G’s, Sumka drove George’s car with George passed out in the front 

seat.  (Tr. 194).   

Defendant, who drank heavily throughout the day, began his day on August 

 
3 Many of the witnesses are related and share the same last names.  For clarity, this 
brief refers to many of the witnesses by their first name. 
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28, 1999, by helping his cousin, Mark Taylor, move furniture.  (Tr. 308).  

Afterwards, Defendant and Taylor went to a different cousin’s house where they met 

Billy Jack Long.  (Tr. 310).  The three of them drove to various locations to visit 

with friends.  Around 8:00 p.m., Taylor left and went home.  (Tr. 142).   

After Taylor left, Defendant and Long went to Katherine King’s house.  (Tr. 

313, 163).  Defendant and Long went to the back door, and Defendant asked if 

George Jacob’s son, George Junior, was present.  (Tr. 163-164).  Katherine knew 

Defendant previously threatened to kill George Junior, so Katherine told Defendant 

to leave or she would call the police.  (Tr. 164-165).  Defendant complied, and as 

Defendant and Long left, Katherine’s son, Kevin King, left with Defendant and 

Long.  (Id.).  Defendant, Long, and now Kevin, decided to play some pool and 

headed to Mr. G’s.  (Tr. 315-316).   

George, Sumka, Long, Kevin, and Defendant were now on a collision course.  

Sumka and George were leaving Mr. G’s while Defendant, Long, and Kevin were 

driving to Mr. G’s.  Regrettably, their vehicles passed on the road.  Sumka saw 

Defendant, and Sumka stopped because they knew each other.  (Tr. 192-193.)  

Defendant asked Sumka who was with him, and Sumka responded “George.”  (Id.).  

Sumka knew Defendant and George did not get along, so Sumka “took off,” while 

Defendant chased after Sumka in his truck, pulled in front of Sumka’s car, and 

“stopped” Sumka and George.  (Tr. 193).  When Defendant pulled in front of Sumka 
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and George, Defendant’s truck blocked the road all together.  (Tr. 212).   

Immediately after stopping, Defendant was present as Long and Kevin 

jumped out of Defendant’s truck and pulled George out of the car.  (Tr. 213-215).  

Sumka went to the back of the car where Defendant told Sumka “to just stay out of 

it.”  (Tr. 194).  Defendant then went to where George was being assaulted, and Long 

came to the back of the car and hit Sumka in the face.  (Tr. 194-195).  The blow 

knocked Sumka to the ground.  (Id.).  Sumka took a moment to recover from the 

blow, then ran away from the scene looking for help.  (Id.).  

Unsuccessful in his venture to find help, Sumka came back to the car where,  

this time, Kevin hit Sumka.  (Tr. 196).  Defendant told Kevin not to hit Sumka again.  

(Id.). Defendant then threw a knife across the road.  (Id.).  Sumka went to check on 

George and saw George lying in ditch behind the car.  (Id.).  Sumka could hear 

George “gurgling.”  (Tr. 197).   

Leaving George behind in the ditch, Defendant told Sumka he was coming 

with them, and Defendant drove everyone else back to Defendant’s house.  (Tr. 199).  

At the house, Defendant told Sumka to take a shower.  (Tr. 199).  Defendant also 

collected everyone’s clothes and put the clothes in a bag.  (Tr. 199-200).  Sumka was 

left without shoes, so Defendant drove everyone to Sumka’s house for shoes.  (Id.).  

At Sumka’s house, Defendant told Sumka “[g]o in there and come right back out.  If 

you don’t, I’m going to come in there and kill everybody.”  (Tr. 200).  Sumka’s 
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mother, niece, and brother were at his house, so Sumka did as Defendant demanded.  

(Tr. 201-200).  After Sumka got his shoes, Defendant drove everyone, including 

Long and Kevin, to Mark Taylor’s house.   

Taylor testified that on the night of August 28, 1999, Defendant, along with 

Long, Kevin, and Sumka, came to his house.  (Tr. 141, 143).  Defendant told Taylor 

“he killed George Jacobs,” cut George’s throat, stomped on George’s head, cut off 

George’s “dick and balls,” and shoved them into George’s mouth.  (Id.).  Taylor also 

testified about Sumka’s appearance.  Taylor and Sumka grew up together, and when 

Taylor saw Sumka at his house that night, Sumka “was a little beat up” and “didn’t 

look right either.”  (Tr. 139-140, 144).  Sumka was “ghostly pale” and “frightened.”  

(Tr. 144-145).   

The group did not stay long at Taylor’s house, and Defendant drove Sumka, 

Long, and Kevin to Katherine King’s house.  (Tr. 202, 163-164).  Katherine King is 

Kevin’s mother.  (Tr. 158-159).  At that time, Katherine was in a relationship with 

George’s son, George Junior.  (Tr. 159).  When they got to Katherine’s house, 

Defendant sent Kevin inside to get George Junior to come outside.  (Tr. 202).  

Defendant stated they were going to do the same thing to George Junior that they 

had done to George.  Id.  Kevin went into Katherine’s house and tried to wake 

George Junior up.  (Tr. 165).  Ultimately, Katherine saw what was happening and 

told Defendant to leave, and Defendant left.  (Tr. 166).  Kevin stayed behind at 
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Katherine house.  (Tr. 203).   

Next, Defendant dropped Long off at Long’s girlfriend’s house and took 

Sumka to Defendant’s mother’s house where Patsy was staying.  (Tr. 203-204, 50).  

Defendant got Patsy out of bed, and told Patsy “he killed George Jacobs, and that he 

sliced his throat, cut him in the stomach, and cut his nuts and dick off.  He [George] 

won’t fuck anyone anymore, not even you.”  (Tr. 50).  Defendant asked Patsy to 

wash some bloody clothes for him.  When Patsy refused, Defendant asked Patsy for 

her lighter, then he went outside, started a fire, and burned some clothing in a burn 

pit.  (Tr. 50-51, 204, 231).  After burning the clothes, Defendant left and went to his 

house.  (Tr. 204-205).   

It did not take long for law enforcement to find George’s body.  Just after 

midnight, on August 29, 1999, Agent John Jones, an investigator with the Oklahoma 

State Bureau of Investigation (OSBI), responded to a murder in McIntosh County, 

Oklahoma.  (Tr. 83-84).  The crime scene sat in a rural area south of State Highway 

9 on Vernon Road.  (Id.).  See Murphy v. Royal, 875 F.3d 896, 904 (10th Cir. 2017); 

(Supp. ROA, Exh 2).   

When Agent Jones arrived, he looked around the crime scene and found 

George’s body in a ditch on the side of the road.  (Tr. 86).  George’s pants and 

underwear had been pulled down around his knees, and George’s penis and testicles 

were cut off his body.  (Tr. 94).  George’s neck and abdomen had also been deeply 
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cut from side to side.  (Tr. 88).  There were also drag marks on George’s upper 

buttocks and lower back where George had been dragged across the gravel road.  

(Tr. 96-97).  The crime scene was later reduced to the following sketch: 

 

(Tr. 85)(Supp. ROA, Exh 2).   

After inspecting the crime scene, Agent Jones interviewed witnesses and 

identified Defendant as a suspect.  (Tr. 97).  Ultimately, Agent Jones applied for a 

search warrant for Defendant’s home and served it just after sunup on August 29, 

1999.  (Tr. 98-99).  Law enforcement officers took Defendant to the police 

department where Agent Jones and another OSBI agent read Defendant a Miranda 
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warning and interviewed Defendant.  (Tr. 101-102).  The interview was audio 

recorded and entered into evidence.  (Supp. ROA, Exh 12). 

 Defendant began the interview by giving the agents a false accounting of his 

activities that evening and claimed he had not seen George Jacobs in three to four 

months. (Id.). As Defendant realized the agents knew more about the crime, 

Defendant stated the “only way you got me for under arrest, for accessory.”  (Id.).  

As the interview progressed, Defendant admitted to pulling in front of George and 

Sumka’s car and stopping it.  (Id.).  Defendant admitted to getting out of the car, but 

claimed Long and Kevin were the ones who pulled George out of the car.  (Id.). 

Defendant initially denied participating in the beating, but later admitted 

kicking George “in the balls,” kicking George in the side, grabbing the hair on 

George’s head, and cutting George’s penis.  (Id.).  Defendant also admitted leaving 

George behind, alive, when he drove the rest of the group away from the scene.  (Id.).  

Defendant denied planning to beat and kill George, describing the killing as more of 

a wrong place at the wrong time situation.  (Id.). 

In April of 2000, Defendant wrote a letter to Long.  (Tr. 107-108).  Defendant 

wrote the following:  

I need your help. Say you and Kevin done all the beating. Let me 
go and take care of my kids. Take the rap for me. I will always 
be there for you. … Anything you need while you're locked up. 
I have to take care of my business outside. … I'm trying to come 
up with one million dollars to buy you out, but it's going to take 
a little time. Please, help me big time. I will owe you my life. … 
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Don't let nobody know anything. Don't talk to anyone in your cell 
about this. Write back. 

 
(Tr. 108)(edited for clarity). 

Dr. Distefano, a medical examiner with the State of Oklahoma, performed an 

autopsy on George’s body.  (Tr. 162-163).  Dr. Distefano found a cut into George’s 

larynx and jugular vein.  (Tr. 267).  This wound by itself could have been fatal.  (Tr. 

279).  Dr. Distefano also found broken bones in George’s face, identified a thirteen-

inch slice across the bottom of his chest, and determined “a sharp instrument had 

severed the genitalia away from the body.”.  (Tr. 268, 270, 277).  Dr. Distefano 

conculed George’s “death resulted from exsanguination, meaning loss of blood, 

which resulted from the blunt and the sharp force injuries.”  (Tr. 279).  Dr. Distefano 

testified he determined the manner of death to be a homicide.  (Tr. 280).   

At the federal trial, the parties stipulated Defendant, for purposes of federal 

jurisdiction, is an Indian, has some degree of Indian blood, and is a member of a 

federally recognized Indian tribe.  (Tr. 285-287).  The parties also stipulated the 

conduct identified in the Superseding Indictment occurred within the Eastern District 

of Oklahoma and within the boundaries of the Muscogee Nation’s Reservation 

within the United States Indian country jurisdiction.  (Id.). 

Long and Kevin both died prior to the federal trial.  (Tr. 109).   
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SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 

 Defendant did not care for his girlfriend’s ex-boyfriend, George.  On August 

26, 1999, the Defendant stated he would kill George and George’s children.  True to 

his word, on August 28, 1999, Defendant, along with accomplices, went looking for 

George’s son, George Junior.  Their first attempt to find George Junior was 

unsuccessful, and they drove around town drinking heavily.  Defendant and his 

accomplices then drove to a bar called Mr. G’s.  Unfortunately for George, George 

and his friend Mark Sumka were leaving Mr. G’s as the Defendant pulled up.  A car 

chase ensued, but Defendant was able to pull his truck in front of Sumka’s car and 

force Sumka to pull over and stop.  When Sumka stopped, the Defendant’s 

accomplices rushed to Sumka’s car and pulled George out.  Sumka went around to 

help, but was met by Defendant and told to stay out of it.  One of the accomplices 

hit Sumka in the face and knocked him to the ground.  Afterwards, Defendant cut 

George’s penis off with a knife and left George to bleed to death alone in a ditch.   

 Defendant’s actions constituted a seizing and holding of George.  This 

completes the federal offense of kidnapping.  The kidnapping statute does not 

require asportation.  There is nothing in the statute requiring the seizure and holding 

be for a specified period or independent of some other contemporaneously occurring 

offense.  Defendant requests this Court to add those elements into the statute.  This 

Court should decline to create new elements and instead adopt a plain and ordinary 
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reading of the federal kidnapping statute.   

 Defendant’s crimes of murder and kidnapping resulting in death do not carry 

a finite statute of limitations.  Defendant, however, claims because his tribal 

government has not opted-into the federal death penalty framework, he should enjoy 

a five-year statute of limitations and largely avoid liability for his crimes.  

Defendant’s request is without precedence in any court, and this Court should not 

limit Defendant’s conviction through an unorthodox application of the statute of 

limitations.   

 The State of Oklahoma exercised jurisdiction over all its citizens from its 

statehood in 1907.  Indeed, here, Oklahoma prosecuted and convicted Defendant 

only one year after the 1999 offense conduct.  Through an unprecedented sea change 

in the  jurisdictional landscape, in 2020, the Supreme Court of the United States held 

Oklahoma never had jurisdiction over the Defendant’s crimes.  As a result, the 

United States was left as the sole prosecuting authority available to seek adequate 

punishment for Defendant’s actions.  (Although Defendant could have been 

prosecuted in tribal court, the limitations on tribal sentencing would have resulted in 

this heinous crime receiving punishment more befitting a misdemeanor). 

A federal indictment was returned two months later after the monumental 

jurisdictional opinion issued.  Defendant now asks this Court to dismiss the federal 

charges against him based on a theory of pre-indictment delay.  Defendant’s 
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requested relief is not warranted. 

ARGUMENT AND AUTHORITY 

I. DEFENDANT KIDNAPPED GEORGE JACOBS   

A. Standard of Review  

 A motion for acquittal is reviewed de novo.  United States v. Fuller, 751 F.3d 

1150, 1153 (10th Cir. 2014).  On appeal, the court “must view the evidence, both 

direct and circumstantial, in the light most favorable to the government, and without 

weighing conflicting evidence or considering the credibility of witnesses, determine 

whether that evidence, if believed, would establish each element of the crime.”  (Id.).  

(internal citations and quotations omitted).  This Court’s review “is very deferential” 

and this Court “will not overturn a jury’s verdict unless a reasonable juror could not 

have concluded, on the basis of the evidence presented, that the defendant was guilty 

of the crime charged.  United States v. Gabaldon, 389 F.3d 1090, 1094 (10th Cir. 

2004).   

B. The Defendant Waived Much of His Rule 29 Argument 

 Defendant moved for judgment of acquittal under Fed.R.Crim.P. 29 (Rule 29) 

at the close of the United States’ case in chief and again following the close of all 

evidence.  (Tr. 289, 384).  The District Court denied both motions.  (Tr. 298, 384). 

When defendant challenges the sufficiency of the evidence on “specific 

grounds, all grounds not specified in the motion are waived.”  United States v. 
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Maynard, 984 F.3d 948, 961 (10th Cir. 2020)(internal citations and quotations 

omitted).  “Although specificity of grounds is not required in a Rule 29 motion, 

where a Rule 29 motion is made on specific grounds, all grounds not specified are 

waived.”  Id.   

During the trial, Defendant made the following relevant arguments for his 

Rule 29 motion: 

As to Count Two, excuse me, Murder in Indian 
Country in Perpetration of Kidnapping, we would request 
that the Court sustain our Rule 29 Motion as to Count Two 
because even taken in the light most flattering or favorable 
to the government, I don't think any rational juror could 
determine beyond a reasonable doubt that there was a 
kidnapping here by Mr. Murphy of George Jacobs. 
Because the testimony from Mr. Sumka was, is that, Mr. 
Jacobs was pulled out of the car and beaten and restrained 
and detained by Mr. King and Mr. Long, not by Mr. 
Murphy. So to the extent that it could even be said there 
was a kidnapping of George Jacobs, it was not committed4 
by Patrick Murphy according to their own witness.  

 
And we would also submit that what happened to 

Mr. Jacobs did not amount to or constitute kidnapping. 
He's pulled out of the car, beaten and killed. I don't think 
that that meets the elements of kidnapping. But more 
important than that, they haven't shown Mr. Murphy 
participated in any kidnapping.  

 
(Tr. 288.) 
 

As to Count Three, we move for a judgment of 
acquittal under Rule 29, because the evidence, as we 

 
4 Defendant has since abandoned any argument on appeal that he did not actually 
commit or aid and abet the kidnapping.   
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argued before, does not indicate that Patrick Murphy, 
either by aiding and abetting or direct action kidnapped, if 
any kidnapping occurred, of George Jacobs. Said, second 
the defendant held George Jacobs--and I'm reading from 
the elements, Your Honor--for some purpose or benefit. 
They have shown no purpose or benefit for Mr. Murphy to 
allegedly kidnap George Jacobs.  

Third element, the kidnapping of George Jacobs 
resulted in the death of George Jacobs. There was no 
kidnapping, number one. And second and more 
particularly, there was no kidnapping by Mr. Murphy. 

 
(Tr. 290.) 
 

In his brief, Defendant advances several arguments he did not raise below in 

his Rule 29 motion.  Specifically, Defendant argues for the first time his “kidnapping 

was indistinguishable and not separate from the murder itself, but part of a 

continuous, uninterrupted series of events which were part of the murder.”  (Def. 

Brf. p. 12).  As part of that argument, Defendant urges this Court to adopt a test from 

the Third Circuit in Government of the Virgin Islands v. Berry, 604 F.2d 221, 228 

(3rd Cir. 1979) to reverse his kidnapping-related convictions.  (Def. Brf. p. 15).   

 Defendant has waived these arguments by failing to make them below and is 

not entitled to relief.   

C. The Defendant Seized and Held George Jacobs 

Under the federal kidnapping statute, a defendant kidnaps someone in Indian 

Country when the following elements are met:   

(a) Whoever unlawfully seizes, confines, inveigles, 
decoys, kidnaps, abducts, or carries away and holds for 
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ransom or reward or otherwise any person, except in the 
case of a minor by the parent thereof, when-- 

*** 
(2) any such act against the person is done within the 
special maritime and territorial jurisdiction of the United 
States. 

 
18 U.S.C. § 1201(a)(2)(underlining added). 

 
 Once the jurisdictional requirements are met, that is interstate commerce or 

Indian Country, the crime of kidnapping is complete “upon the unlawful seizing and 

detention of the victim.”  United States v. Toledo, 985 F.2d 1462, 1465-1466 (10th 

Cir. 1993).  In the context of a kidnapping, the term “seizure” is not defined or linked 

to any specific amount of time.  Likewise, this Circuit has yet to define the term 

“seizure” in the kidnapping statute.   

 In Ruffin v. United States, 219 A.3d 997, 1006 (D.C. 2019), the District of 

Columbia Court of Appeals affirmed a kidnapping conviction connected to a robbery 

and sexual assault.  The District of Columbia kidnapping statute, like its Title 18 

equivalent, requires the United States to prove the defendant intentionally seized, 

confined, or carried the victim away, and that the defendant held or detained the 

victim against her will.  Id. at 1005.   

 The offense conduct in Ruffin involved Mr. Ruffin attacking a woman as she 

entered the front door to the common area of her apartment complex.  Id. at 1000.  

Mr. Ruffin ambushed the woman from behind, held a knife to her face, told her not 

to move, pushed her into the common area of the apartment complex, and closed the 
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door behind them.  Id.  Once inside the common area and while still holding a knife 

at his victim’s face, Mr. Ruffin demanded money from the victim.  Id. at 1001.  As 

the victim tried to comply, Mr. Ruffin sexually assaulted the victim by rubbing his 

fingers against her genital area.  Id.  Bravely, the victim fought back, and Mr. Ruffin 

eventually ran away.  Id.  The victim suffered injuries to her face, back, and hand.  

Id.  A jury later convicted Mr. Ruffin of, among other charges, Kidnapping While 

Armed.  Id. at 1000.   

 On appeal, Mr. Ruffin argued “there was insufficient evidence to sustain his 

kidnapping conviction because the victim’s detention lasted only about a minute-

and-a-half and was “incidental” to and “wholly coextensive with” the assault and 

attempted robbery.”  Id. at 1005.  Mr. Ruffin further argued “offenses like robbery 

and sexual assault almost always include some detention of the victim (though 

detention is not an element of them), and the legislature could not have intended the 

kidnapping statute to apply to such detentions that are “not distinct from another 

offense.”  Id. (parenthetical in original). 

 In rejecting Mr. Ruffin’s arguments, the appellate court held the language of 

its kidnapping statute “contains no requirement that the victim be moved any 

particular distance or be held for any particular length of time to constitute a 

kidnapping; all that is required is a seizing, confining or the like and a holding or 

detaining for ransom or reward or otherwise.”  Id. (citations omitted).   
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In other contexts, the law has interpreted the term “seizure” within its ordinary 

meaning.  For example, in the context of the Fourth Amendment’s protection against 

unreasonable seizures, the word seizure “has meant a taking possession.”  California 

v. Hodari D., 499 U.S. 621, 624 (1991).  “For most purposes at common law, the 

word connoted not merely grasping, or applying physical force to, the animate or 

inanimate object in question, but actually bringing it within physical control.”  Id.  

Similarly, when a police officer makes a traffic stop, the officer has “seized” the 

offending motorist.  Rodriguez v. United States, 575 U.S. 348, 354 (2015).   

 Almost a century ago, Congress enacted and later amended its kidnapping 

statute.  As early as 1932, Congress criminalized transporting in interstate commerce 

anyone “who shall have been unlawfully seized.”  Gooch v. United States, 297 U.S. 

124, 125 (1936).  When Congress drafted the kidnapping statute, it used plain and 

ordinary language to criminalize the seizure of the victim.  “Courts must presume 

that a legislature says in a statute what it means and means in a statute what it says 

there.”  Barnhart v. Sigmon Coal Co., Inc., 534 U.S. 438, 461-462 (2002).  In 1972, 

Congress amended its jurisdictional elements to include kidnappings beyond those 

affecting interstate commerce.  United States v. Lewis, 662 F.3d 1087, 1089 (4th Cir. 

1981).  Congress expanded its jurisdictional reach to include kidnapping “within the 

special maritime and territorial jurisdiction of the United States,” its “special aircraft 

jurisdiction,” and kidnapping of foreign officials.  Id.  Congress did not disturb the 
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otherwise plain and ordinary language of the statute criminalizing seizures.   

 Against this backdrop, Defendant claims he did not kidnap George even 

though Defendant stopped George’s travel on a public roadway, told George’s friend 

and only means of escape to stay out of it, pulled George out of George’s car, 

dragged George into a ditch, attacked George with a knife, left George to die and 

then bragged about it to his girlfriend and cousin.   

Without citing to the case, Defendant seems to make an argument against 

kidnapping as identified in United States v. Jackson, 24 F.4th 1308 (9th Cir. 2022).  

In Jackson, a car pulled up to a home, and the defendant went from the passenger 

side to the driver’s side of a parked car.5  Id., 24 F.4th at 1310.  The defendant 

punched the driver in the face, chest, and arms and tried to yank her from the car.  

Id.  The defendant then dragged the victim from her car and tried to pull her into a 

nearby house.  Based on those facts, defendant was charged with, among other 

crimes, kidnapping in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1201(a)(2).  Id.   

 At trial, via a motion for acquittal, the defendant argued a kidnapping could 

not be supported because “whatever seizure occurred, it certainly didn’t occur 

beyond whatever beating there was.”  Id.  In finding the evidence was legally 

 
5 It is unclear from the opinion whether the defendant was a passenger in the same 
car, but Mr. Jackson’s opening brief on appeal indicates he was seated in the 
passenger seat of the parked car.  Id., 2020 WL 7872285 (C.A.9), 31-32; 2021 WL 
5095272 (C.A.9), 8. 
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insufficient to support a kidnapping, the Ninth Circuit used a four-factor test from 

Government of the Virgin Islands v. Berry, 604 F.2d 221, 224 (3rd Cir. 1979) to 

review kidnappings.  Id., 24 F.4th at 1312.  The Berry factors are:  

(1) the duration of the detention or asportation; (2) whether 
the detention or asportation occurred during the 
commission of a separate offense; (3) whether the 
detention or asportation which occurred is inherent in the 
separate offense; and (4) whether the asportation or 
detention created a significant danger to the victim 
independent of that posed by the separate offense. 

 
Id. 

 
 In applying the Berry factors, the Ninth Circuit found the assault 

indistinguishable from the kidnapping and reversed the kidnapping conviction.  

Jackson, 24 F.4th at 1315.   

This Circuit has not adopted the Berry test.  Gabaldon, 389 F.3d at 1097.  

Further, Defendant failed to bring this argument as part of his specific Rule 29 

motion and pursuant to United States v. Maynard, 984 F.3d 948, 961 (10th Cir. 

2020), the argument is therefore waived.  Regardless, the facts in Jackson differ 

significantly from the facts in this case.  Here, Defendant chased and stopped 

George’s travel on a public roadway.  Continuing with the seizure, Defendant left 

his vehicle parked in front of George’s vehicle and the group pulled George out of 

the car.6  Defendant told George’s friend and only means of escape to stay out of it, 

 
6 As addressed at footnote 7 herein, Defendant has abandoned any claim on appeal 
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and Defendant held George long enough to beat George, take down George’s pants, 

cut off George’s penis, and slice George’s neck and abdomen from side to side.  

Nothing in the Jackson case indicates that defendant chased down his victim and 

seized her travel upon a public roadway, parked his vehicle in front of her vehicle, 

and intimidated her only means of escape.   

Additionally, Berry is wrongly decided.  Berry adds a time requirement to the 

seizure element and the holding element which are not within the plain language  of 

the federal kidnapping statute.  By adding a time requirement, Berry makes 

meaningless a plain and ordinary reading of the statute.  Here, a jury heard evidence 

Defendant intercepted George’s travels on a public roadway, ran off George’s only 

means of escape, pulled George out of the car, and killed George in the ditch with a 

knife.  See, Supp. ROA, Ex 2.  The jury found such evidence sufficient to prove 

Defendant seized and held George.  Defendant is not entitled to relief on this issue.   

 

 

 
that he did not, at a minimum, aid and abet the actual kidnapping – no matter which 
of the three actually pulled George from the car.  At trial, Defendant placed the blame 
for the entire attack on Long and 14-year-old Kevin. (Tr. 317-339).  Sumka, after 
recovering from being knocked to the ground and briefly running off, returned to 
find all three assailants at the car and George in the ditch.  (Tr. 195-197).  Sumka 
did recall Long and Kevin beating George in the car, so they arguably had no reason 
to remove him from the car to accomplish that objective. Defendant claimed he could 
think of no reason why for Long and Kevin to attack or beat the victim.  Defendant 
did admit, at some point, holding George by the hair.  (Tr. 347-350). 

Appellate Case: 22-7021     Document: 010110808261     Date Filed: 02/03/2023     Page: 30 



24 
 

D. Defendant Benefited from the Kidnapping  

 To complete a kidnapping, a defendant must seize and hold someone for 

ransom or reward or otherwise.  18 U.S.C. § 1201(a)(2).  The term “otherwise” 

“demands only that the holding of the kidnap victim fulfill some purpose desired by 

the captor.”  Gabaldon, 389 F.3d at 1095.  This is a low standard.  Kidnapping 

someone to torture them or to make a coconspirator happy is enough to satisfy this 

requirement.  United States v. Hopper, 663 Fed.Appx. 665, 672 (10th Cir. 

2016)(unpublished).  Similarly, kidnapping someone to assault them or take indecent 

liberties with them fulfills the requirement.  De Herrera v. United States, 339 F.2d 

587, 588 (10th Cir. 1964).  The jury instruction defines the “or otherwise” portion 

of the statue to mean the kidnapping fulfilled “some purpose or benefit.”  Pattern 

Crim. Jury Instr. 10th Cir. 2.55 (2021).   

 Here, Defendant accomplished several purposes and arguably derived several 

benefits by kidnapping George.  The kidnapping allowed Defendant to assault, 

murder, and sexually mutilate George—the former lover of Defendant’s girlfriend.  

In Defendant’s twisted view, such behavior constituted a purpose and benefit. 

 He eliminated a rival who, according to his girlfriend, he was jealous of and 

whom he frequently accused her of sneaking off to meet.  (Tr. 46-48, 68).  After 

butchering George, Defendant bragged to her that night, “[H]e won’t fuck anyone 

anymore, not even you.”  (Tr. 50).  
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 After threatening to kill George (Tr. 49), Defendant demonstrated to his 

girlfriend that his threats – to rivals, to her, to anyone challenging him – were not 

mere empty threats but promises he would fulfill.  Defendant benefitted in knowing 

she would not likely engage in behavior putting anyone else she knew at risk, thus 

solidifying his attempts to isolate her from others.   

 The killing and mutilation, which Defendant did not hesitate in bragging about 

to his girlfriend and Taylor, served the additional purpose of scaring away any other 

potential men who might have tried to pursue Patsy or any future romantic partner 

he might find. 

 Further, the kidnapping served the purpose and benefit of allowing Defendant 

to brag to his cousin and friend Mark Taylor about killing George.  As shown above, 

the Defendant’s actions satisfy the statutory requirement that the kidnapping serve 

some “purpose or benefit.”   

 Moving Defendant from the car or the roadway also served the purpose of 

allowing the killing and butchery to take place without interruption by other traffic 

that might pass on the roadway.  One such car did drive by during the incident.  (Tr. 

196-197).  Moving George out of the car and dragging him off the road to the ditch 

significantly decreased the possibility someone might witness the murder or 

intervene in an attempt to stop the carnage.  (Supp. ROA, Exh 2). 

 Defendant cites no authority showing kidnapping for the purposes of 
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furthering a murder or assault fails the statutory requirement.  Defendant is not 

entitled to relief on this issue.   

E. George Did Not Consent to the Kidnapping 

 A kidnapping must be against the victim’s will.  Gabaldon, 389 F.3d at 1094; 

Pattern Crim. Jury Instr. 10th Cir. 2.55 (2021).  “In an ordinary kidnapping case 

where the victim is able and willing to testify as to his or her consent at trial, 

testimony that he or she was transported involuntarily is normally sufficient to 

support a jury finding that the victim was in fact transported involuntarily.  Where, 

by contrast, the victim’s testimony is not available at trial, but the evidence 

introduced indicates that the accused feloniously interfered with the victim’s ability 

to form or express a desire to leave, the jury could rationally conclude that the victim 

was being held involuntarily.”  Id.   

 In Gabaldon, the victim entered the defendant’s vehicle voluntarily.  Id., 389 

F.3d at 1093.  Once inside, the defendant and others beat the victim into 

unconsciousness when she refused to perform a sex act.  Id.  The victim, while still 

unconscious, was driven to a different location and strangled to death.  Id.  At trial, 

the defendant claimed the victim was not held against her will.  Id., 389 F.3d, 1095.  

In rejecting the defense argument, this Court held the evidence presented “indicated 

that Dale [the victim] was beaten into unconsciousness while sitting in the back of 

Gabaldon’s car.  It would have been entirely reasonable on this basis alone for the 
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jury to have concluded that Dale would have withdrawn any previous consent to 

stay.”  Id.   

 A victim’s consent must be valid under the circumstances to allow a defendant 

to escape a kidnapping conviction.  “[T]o consent, in the context of a kidnapping, a 

person must (1) act freely and voluntarily and not under the influence of threats, 

force, or duress; (2) have knowledge that he was being physically moved; and (3) 

possess sufficient mental capacity to make an intelligent choice whether to be 

physically moved by the other person.”  United States v. Epstein, 91 F. Supp. 3d 

573, 596 (D.N.J. 2015), aff'd sub nom. United States v. Stimler, 864 F.3d 253 (3d 

Cir. 2017), reh'g granted, opinion vacated in part sub nom.  United States v. 

Goldstein, 902 F.3d 411 (3d Cir. 2018), and on reh'g sub nom.  United States v. 

Goldstein, 914 F.3d 200 (3d Cir. 2019).   

 Here, Defendant did not show any consent by George.  Moreover, George’s 

last known act of free will involved him traveling as a passenger in his car from Mr. 

G’s to another bar for more drinks.  As George and Sumka traveled to the next bar, 

George passed out in the front seat.  While Sumka was driving and George was 

riding down the road, Defendant ran George’s car off the road, pulled George out of 

the car, and cut off George’s penis.  A reasonable jury concluded George did not 

consent to being stopped and subjected to such violent, offensive and, ultimately, 

fatal actions.  Defendant is not entitled to relief on this issue.   
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II. THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS DOES NOT APPLY TO DEFENDANT 

A. Standard of Review  

 This Court reviews de novo a district court’s determination that a litigant’s 

claims are not barred by the statute of limitations.  United States v. Hurst, 322 F.3d 

1256, 1259 (10th Cir. 2003).   

B. A Capital Offense Differs from a Capital Sentence  
 

 The Superseding Indictment charges four capital offenses: two counts of 

murder in the first degree and two counts of kidnapping resulting in death.  (ROA, 

Vol. I, at 87-88).  Murder in the first degree “shall be punished by death or by 

imprisonment for life.”  18 U.S.C. § 1111(b).  Kidnapping “if the death of any person 

results, shall be punished by death or life imprisonment.”  18 U.S.C. § 1201(a).  A 

capital offense is one punishable by death, and an “indictment for any offense 

punishable by death may be found at any time without limitation.”  18 U.S.C. § 3281. 

 Capital sentences do not apply to capital offenses within the United States’ 

Indian Country jurisdiction unless the applicable tribal government has effectively 

opted-in by electing to have the death penalty as a possible punishment within their 

tribal territory:   

Notwithstanding sections 1152 and 1153, no person 
subject to the criminal jurisdiction of an Indian tribal 
government shall be subject to a capital sentence under 
this chapter for any offense the Federal jurisdiction for 
which is predicated solely on Indian country (as defined in 
section 1151 of this title) and which has occurred within 
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the boundaries of Indian country, unless the governing 
body of the tribe7 has elected that this chapter have effect 
over land and persons subject to its criminal jurisdiction. 

 
18 U.S.C. § 3598. (emphasis added). 

 
 Capital offenses are the most serious crimes identified in Title 18.  Congress 

clearly intended to punished defendants for these crimes regardless of when the 

offense occurred.  Capital sentences are a different matter and Congress did not 

intend to punish all capital offenders with capital sentences.   

 The issue here appears to be a matter of first impression for this Circuit. 

However, a district court in this Circuit, as well as the Ninth Circuit, have rejected 

Defendant’s position.  In United States v. Martinez, 505 F.Supp.2d 1024, 1025 

(D.N.M. 2007), almost five years to the month after the offense conduct, a grand 

jury returned an indictment for murder in the first degree—premeditation (the 

indictment did not charge felony murder).  Due to several procedural issues, the 

United States sought and received a superseding indictment charging Mr. Martinez 

with felony murder in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1111.  Id.  Mr. Martinez moved to 

dismiss the superseding indictment by alleging “the Federal Death Penalty Act 

 
7 The parties stipulated these events occurred within the Muscogee (Creek) Nation’s 
reservation.  (Tr. 285-287).  The record does not include evidence proving the 
Muscogee (Creek) Nation has failed to elect for its citizens to be subject to the death 
penalty.  In good faith, however, the United States cannot seriously dispute the 
Muscogee (Creek) Nation has not so elected and to the undersigned’s knowledge, 
the tribe has not opted-in to capital punishment as a possible penalty.   
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prohibits the United States from imposing the death penalty in this case” because it 

occurred within the United States’ Indian Country jurisdiction, and therefore 

Martinez’s crime is “not a capital offense to which no statute of limitation applies.”  

Id. at 1025-1026.  More specifically, Mr. Martinez relied on 18 U.S.C. § 3598 which 

precludes capital sentencing for crimes occurring within the United States’ Indian 

Country jurisdiction.  Id. at 1031.   

 The District Court of New Mexico noted the lack of precedence on the issue, 

but ultimately held Mr. Martinez “improperly conflated the availability of a “capital 

sentence” under 18 U.S.C. § 3598 with the definition of a “capital offense,” and/or 

a an (sic) “offense punishable by death” under 18 U.S.C. § 3281, because the Court 

finds that 18 U.S.C. § 3598 does not undermine the capital nature of first-degree 

murder as charged under 18 U.S.C. § 1111.”  Id. at 1031.   

 Likewise, in United States v. Gallaher, 624 F.3d 934 (9th Cir. 2010), the Ninth 

Circuit held similarly.  A federal grand jury indicted Mr. Gallaher for first degree 

murder in Indian Country fourteen years after the offense conduct.  Id. at 937.  Mr. 

Gallaher moved to dismiss the indictment by alleging an expired statute of 

limitations.  Id.  Mr. Gallaher theorized that he did not commit a capital offense 

because 18 U.S.C. § 3598 prohibited a capital sentence for murders in Indian 

Country, and thus the five-year statute of limitations period in 18 U.S.C. § 3282 

should apply.  Id. at 937, 939.   
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The Ninth Circuit framed the issue as “whether the conditional elimination of 

the death penalty for the crime charged in this case also eliminates its status as a 

capital offense subject to the unlimited statute of limitations.”  Id. at 939.  In rejecting 

Mr. Gallaher’s argument, the Ninth Circuit held the unavailability of the death 

penalty “does not reflect a legislative assessment that murder in Indian country is a 

less serious offense than other murders in federal enclaves.”  Id. at 940-941.8  The 

Circuit further held the “plain text of § 1111(b) mandates that we continue to 

categorize first degree murder as a crime punishable by death.”  Id.   

In the case at bar, Defendant cites United States v. Maestas, 523 F.2d 316, 

318-319 (10th Cir. 1975) for the proposition that, when prosecutors do not seek the 

death penalty, defendants are not entitled to twenty peremptory jury challenges 

under Fed. R. Crim. P. 24(b)(1).  (Def. Brf. p. 27).  Defendant asserts when the death 

penalty is not pursued, a case loses its capital nature.  Id.  Both Martinez and 

Gallaher examined Maestas and found it inapplicable.  In Martinez, the court held 

Maestas did not apply because “rule 24(b)(1) focuses on the “severity of the 

punishment rather than the nature of the offense.”  Martinez, 505 F.Supp.2d at 1033-

1034 (internal citations omitted).  In Gallaher, the Ninth Circuit described Maestas 

 
8 Given the federal trust relationship generally and the specific promises included in 
various Indian treatises which promised protection for tribal members, Congress 
would not likely undertake to treat homicides in Indian Country as less serious that 
murders in other federal enclaves without creating an extensive legislative history 
(utterly lacking here) to justify such a radical change in federal Indian policy. 
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as a decision in accord with its holdings on procedural rights in death penalty cases 

-  such as two attorneys, witness lists, and peremptory strikes.  Gallaher, 624 F.3d 

at 940.  The Gallaher court continued, citing United States v. Ealy, 363 F.3d 292, 

296-297 (4th Cir. 2004), finding “whether a crime is punishable by death under § 

3281 or capital under § 3282 depends on whether the death penalty may be imposed 

for the crime under the enabling statute, not on whether the death penalty is in fact 

available for defendants in a particular case.”  Gallaher, 624 F.3d at 940. (citations 

omitted).  

 Here, Defendant makes the same argument as the defendants in Martinez and 

Gallaher.  Defendant adds, however, it “makes no sense to say that the offense 

charged in the indictment is (sic) capital offense if, as in this case, the death penalty 

could not be sought in the first instance.”  (Def. Brf. p. 27).  This argument is 

unsupported by the law.  Assuming Defendant were correct, murder itself is not a 

capital offense because it could be punished by life or death.  Taking Defendant’s 

argument a step further, any defendant charged with murder, but sentenced to life, 

could also raise a statute of limitations defense.   

Congress crafted statutes to prevent this exact situation.  Congress identified 

a capital offense as one punishable by death.  With its death penalty election option 

in Indian Country statute, Congress did not prohibit capital punishment in Indian 

Country.  Rather, Congress chose to let tribal governments decide whether to expose 
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their citizens to capital sentences.  A capital sentence, or lack thereof, does not 

change the nature of a capital offense.  Defendant is not entitled to relief on this 

issue.   

III. PRE-INDICTMENT DELAY DID NOT VIOLATE DEFENDANT’S 
RIGHTS  

 
A. Standard of Review  

Motions to dismiss an indictment are reviewed for abuse of discretion, but 

where the motion involves a question of law, it is reviewed de novo.  United States 

v. Stevens, 881 F.3d 1249, 1252 (10th Cir. 2018).   

B. A Grand Jury Returned an Indictment Two Months After the 
Supreme Court’s McGirt Decision 
 

 The due process clause plays a limited role in delayed prosecution claims.  

United States v. Lovasco, 431 U.S. 783, 788 (1977).  To show a claim of pre-

indictment delay, the defendant must show both: (1) actual prejudice resulting from 

the pre-indictment delay, and (2) the delay was purposefully designed to gain a 

tactical advantage or to harass the defendant.  United States v. Reveda, 574 F.2d 

1047, 1048 (10th Cir. 1978).  Negligent delay by the United States is not enough. 

Rather, the defendant must show the United States purposefully employed delay to 

gain a tactical advantage.  United States v. Woodard, 817 Fed.Appx. 626, 628 (10th 

Cir. 2020)(unpublished).  Defendant bears the burden to show both factors are met.  

United States v. Trammell, 133 F.3d 1343, 1351 (10th Cir. 1998).   
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 The foremost case involving  pre-indictment delay is United States v. Avants, 

367 F.3d 433 (5th Cir. 2004).  In 1966, Mr. Avants participated in a murder.  Id. at 

439-440.  In 1999, federal agents saw a news program where Mr. Avants described 

the murder as happening in a national forest which gave the United States 

jurisdiction.  Id.  In 2000, a federal grand jury returned an indictment charging Mr. 

Avants with murder and the case went to trial in 2003.  Id.  In the 37-year interim, 

several witnesses died - including both coconspirators, the police officer who took a 

coconspirator’s statement, and the medical examiner.  Id.  The district court denied 

Mr. Avants’ pre-indictment delay claim because Avants failed to show “an 

intentional … tactical decision to delay the prosecution for the purpose of 

disadvantaging Avants.”  Id. at 441-442.  Mr. Avants also failed to show any “actual 

and substantial” prejudice.  Id.  The Circuit affirmed and took no issue with the 

district court’s finding of no tactical delay.  Id.  The Circuit did not address the 

prejudice prong of the analysis because Mr. Avants failed to substantiate the delay 

was designed to gain a tactical advantage.  Id.   

 Here, Defendant offers no argument the United States purposefully designed 

a delay to gain a tactical advantage over Defendant.  Indeed, the opposite is true.  

For over 100 years, the State of Oklahoma maintained unquestioned jurisdiction over 

the geographic area implicated in this case.  McGirt v. Oklahoma, 140 S. Ct. 2452, 

2485 (2020)(Chief Justice Roberts, dissenting).  In July of 2020, the Supreme Court 
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upended the State’s jurisdiction with McGirt, and a federal grand jury returned an 

indictment less than two months later.  Put simply, the United States did not engineer 

the McGirt decision and purposefully delay obtaining a federal indictment in order 

to gain a tactical advantage over Defendant.   

 Defendant also fails to show actual prejudice from any delay.  Defendant’s 

brief is unclear as to how the delay prejudiced his federal trial.  In the record below, 

Defendant claimed “potentially exculpatory evidence from deceased witnesses 

Kevin King and Billy Jack Long is not available to him.”  (ROA, Vol. I. at 98.)  

Defendant makes no specific assertion on how this resulted in any prejudice.  

Defendant could have called Long and Kevin to testify at his state trial but did not 

do so.  Id.  The lack of Long and Kevin’s testimony did not make a difference at the 

state trial, and there is no showing here, beyond speculation, their testimony at the 

federal trial would have changed the results.   

 Defendant failed to show actual prejudice from any pre-indictment delay.  

Likewise, Defendant failed to show any pre-indictment delay emanated from the 

United States purposefully delaying  to gain a tactical advantage.  Defendant is not 

entitled to relief on this issue.   

CONCLUSION 

 Based upon the foregoing the United States respectfully request this Court 

affirm Defendant’s conviction and sentence.  
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STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT 

 The United States has no objection to Defendant’s request for oral argument 

and concurs oral argument would be helpful in this matter given the extensive history 

of this case and the legal questions presented.   

  

 
  Respectfully submitted, 

CHRISTOPHER J. WILSON 
United States Attorney 
 
/s/ Jarrod Leaman    
Jarrod Leaman, OBA #22623 
Linda A. Epperley, OBA # 12057 
Assistant United States Attorney 
Attorney for the Plaintiff 
520 Denison Avenue 
Muskogee, OK 74401 
Phone (918) 684-5100 
Fax (918) 684-5150 
Jarrod.leaman@usdoj.gov 
Linda.epperley@usdoj.gov 
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